SID J. WEATE IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA COL E ENI

0 + 7 C

By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

CAMPUS COMMUNICATIONS, INC., a Florida corporation not for profit,

Petitioner

vs.

CASE NO. 65,786 DCA CASE NO. AW-352

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent

ON PETITION TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Lee S. Johnson, Jr., of BROWN & JOHNSON, P.A. Counsel for Petitioner 4010-F Newberry Road P. O. Box 13502 Gainesville, FL 32604 (904) 372-4339

##

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 12, 1980, the Department of Revenue (hereinafter referred to as the "Department") issued a Notice of Proposed Assessment of Tax, Penalties and Interest under Chapter 212, Florida Statutes (1979), against Campus Communications, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as <u>"The Alligator"</u>). (R. 7) On July 9, 1982, the Department's Notice of Decision sustaining the assessment was issued and <u>The Alligator's</u> petition for reconsideration was denied on September 21, 1982. (R. 2)

<u>The Alligator</u> filed an action challenging the tax assessment in the Circuit Court in and for Alachua County, Florida, pursuant to Chapter 72, Florida Statutes, (1981). <u>The Alligator</u> subsequently admitted liability for \$368.11 of the tax assessment, and the parties stipulated that \$22,979.59 was the amount of the tax challenged, plus penalties and interest thereon. (R. 43)

Both parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment with supporting memoranda (R. 44-113) and on November 9, 1983, the Honorable Elzie S. Sanders, Circuit Judge, issued an order

 $<sup>\</sup>underline{1/}$  (R. ) will be used to refer to the Record and (A. ) to refer to the Appendix.

granting The Alligator's Motion for Summary Judgment. (A. 1)

The Department appealed the trial court's order and the First District Court of Appeal reversed. (A. 5) The First District, however, certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

Is Rule 12A-1.08, Fla. Admin. Code, which requires taxation of all publications which are not sold but are given away, unconstitutional as applied to <u>The</u> Alligator and similarly situated school publications?

4 1 1 2 2

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Campus Communications, Inc. publishes a newspaper, <u>The</u> <u>Independent Florida Alligator</u>. It does not have its own printing facilities, and therefore contracts with an outside printer. The printer purchases the materials and supplies, such as newsprint and ink, which become components of the finished newspapers. <u>The Alligator</u> then purchases the finished newspapers from the printer. Those purchases are the basis of the Department's sales tax assessment. (R. 7, 92) <u>The Alligator's</u> claim of exemption under Section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes (1979)<sup>2</sup>, was denied by the Department on the basis of Rule 12A-1.08, subsections (3)(d)



<sup>2/</sup> The statute reads, in pertinent part: 212.08 Sales, rental, use, consumption, distribution and storage tax; specified exemptions. -- The sale at retail, the rental, the use, the consumption, the distribution, and the storage to be used or consumed in this state of the following tangible personal property are hereby specifically exempt from the tax imposed by this chapter....

<sup>...(6)</sup> EXEMPTIONS; POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS, COMMUNICATIONS. -- There are also exempt from the tax imposed by this chapter sales made to the United States Government, the state, or any county, municipality, or political subdivision of this state...Likewise exempt are newspapers; film rentals, when an admission is charged for viewing such film; and charges for services rendered by radio and television stations, including line charges, talent fees, or license fees and charges for films, video tapes, and transcriptions used in producing radio or television broadcasts.

and (4), Fla. Admin. Code.<sup>3</sup>

<u>The Alligator</u> is published by a not for profit Florida corporation which is also a tax-exempt educational organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The corporation is not officially associated with the University of Florida, but is produced by students. (R. 56, 58)

<u>The Alligator</u> contains campus, local, state, national and international news, opinions, editorials, sports, weather, entertainment features, staff photographs and art, syndicated editorial cartoons, United Press International wire service stories, and advertising. (R. 59, 60) Circulation during the assessment period averaged over 27,000 copies per issue. (R. 34)

Over ninety-nine percent of the copies of <u>The Alligator</u> are distributed to readers free of charge. (R. 12) Distribution is primarily by racks located throughout the Gainesville area. There are a small number of paid and free mail subscriptions. (R. 57, 58) The Alligator has not held

<sup>3/</sup> Those subsections provide that in order to constitute a newspaper, the publication must have been entered or qualified to be admitted and entered as second-class mail matter and must be sold and not given to the reader free of charge.

a second-class mail permit since January 30, 1976 (R. 56) and cannot qualify for one solely because of its free circulation. (R. 49)

Both the trial court (A. 2) and the First District (A. 5) found that <u>The Alligator</u> is a newspaper within the common understanding of the word.

1480% INT

#### ARGUMENT

#### INTRODUCTION

The First District Court of Appeal certified the following question to this Court:

Is Rule 12A-1.08, Fla. Admin. Code, which requires taxation of all publications which are not sold but are given away, unconstitutional as applied to <u>The Alligator</u> and similarly situated school publications?

The real issue is the constitutionality of Rule 12A-1.08 as applied to The Alligator and similarly situated That is, The Alligator is a "school publication" newspapers. only in the sense that it is produced by students. There is no official relationship with the University of Florida and the publisher is a not for profit Florida corporation which is exempt from federal income tax under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3). In that sense it is unlike some school publications, such as high school publications, which are funded by the schools themselves. Those publications would be exempt from sales and use taxes by virtue of Section 212.08(7)(a), Florida Statutes (1979). The newspaper exemption of Section 212.08(6) would not come into play. The fact that a publication like The Alligator is produced by students has nothing to do with whether it is a newspaper and thus entitled to the statutory exemption.

### POINT I

RULE 12A-1.08, FLA. ADMIN. CODE, IS AN INVALID EXERCISE OF DELEGATED LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY INSOFAR AS IT DENIES THE STATUTORY NEWSPAPER TAX EXEMPTION TO THE ALLIGATOR AND SIMILARLY SITUATED NEWSPAPERS.

Although without question there are significant constitutional reasons why denial of exemption to <u>The</u> <u>Alligator</u> and similarly situated newspapers is invalid, this Court need not reach those constitutional claims if it determines that the Department has exceeded its authority in promulgating Rule 12A-1.08, subsections (3)(d) and (4). Therefore, this brief will first address the nonconstitutional <sup>4</sup> claims.

A. The Paid Circulation Requirement of Rule 12A-1.08 Constitutes an Unauthorized Restriction of the Exemption Granted Newspapers by the Legislature.

Chapter 212, Florida Statutes, imposes a sales tax, a use tax, and an admissions tax on certain specified transactions. The sales tax includes transfers of personal

<sup>4/</sup> "Nonconstitutional" only in the sense that a specific constitutional infirmity is not involved. However, even the requirement of reasonableness is a consitutional one. See 1 FLA JUR 2d Admin. Law, § 56, and cases cited therein.

property for a consideration, including certain rentals of both real and personal property. § 212.02(2), Fla. Stat. (1979). It is the sales tax with which we are concerned here.

The sales tax is a generally applicable tax on purchases of tangible personal property. All such purchases are subject to the tax unless specifically exempt. Newspapers are exempt by virtue of Section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes (1979). No definition of the term "newspaper" is provided in Chapter 212, but the Department has promulgated Rule 12A-1.08, Fla. Admin. Code, which provides:

(3) In order to constitute a newspaper, the publication must contain at least the following elements:

(a) It must be published at stated short intervals (usually daily or weekly).

(b) It must not, when successive issues are put together, constitute a book.

(c) It must be intended for circulation among the general public.

(d) It must have been entered or qualified to be admitted and entered as second-class mail matter at a post office in the county where published.

(e) It must contain matters of general interest and reports of current events. If the publication is devoted primarily to matters of specialized interests such as legal, mercantile, political, religious or sporting matters, and it contains in addition thereto general news of importance and of current interest to the general public, it is entitled to be classified as a newspaper.

(4) To qualify for exemption as a newspaper, a publication must be sold and not given to the reader free of charge. So-called-newspapers which are given away for advertising and public relations purposes are taxable.

<u>The Alligator</u> below challenged subsections (3)(d) and (4) of the rule, insofar as they require it to sell its publication to readers in order to qualify for exemption as a newspaper.<sup>5</sup>

Both the trial court and the First District recognized the fact that <u>The Alligator</u> is a newspaper within the common sense of the word. (A. 2, 5) The paid circulation requirement of the Department's rule, however, restricts the scope of the statutory exemption by allowing the exemption to paid circulation newspapers only, rather than to all newspapers. As stated by the First District in <u>State</u>, <u>Department of Business Regulation v. Salvation Ltd.</u>, 452 So.2d 65, 66 (1984):

It is axiomatic that an administrative rule cannot enlarge, modify or contravene the provisions of a statute...A rule which purports to do so is an invalid exercise of delegated legislative authority. (citations omitted)

<sup>5/</sup> As for the second-class requirement of (3)(d), <u>The</u> <u>Alligator</u> fails to qualify solely because it is primarily distributed free of charge to readers. (R. 49-54) Therefore, the sale requirement is, in effect, the only reason <u>The Alligator</u> fails to qualify for exemption as a newspaper under the Department's rules.

The cases of <u>Pedersen v. Green</u>, 105 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1958), and <u>State, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u> <u>v. McTique</u>, 387 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), are examples of situations where administrative agencies went beyond their authority in enacting rules to implement statutes. In <u>Pederson</u>, the statute exempted "feeds" from sales taxes. An administrative rule was adopted which restricted the exemption to feeds used for agricultural animals. The taxpayer objected to this restrictive definition and this Court agreed, finding the rule unreasonable and not within the intendment of the statute in that it unduly restricted the exemption granted "feeds" by the statute. <u>Id.</u> at 4.

In <u>McTique</u>, a statute required lay midwife license applicants to provide a statement from a licensed physician attesting to the applicant's skill and competence. The administrative agency enacted a rule defining "physician" as a <u>Florida</u> physician and the Court held that "[b]y adding the requirement that the physician be a Florida physician the rule is an invalid exercise of delegated legislative authority because it modifies the statute by adding an additional criterion to be met by the applicant." <u>Id.</u> at 456. Likewise, in this case the Department has added the requirement that a newspaper have a paid circulation. This

additional criterion is unauthorized and must be invalidated. Pederson and McTigue cannot be distinguished.

B. The Paid Circulation Requirement of Rule 12A-1.08 is in Conflict with This Court's Interpretation of the Exemption Granted Newspapers by the Legislature.

If there were any doubt that the paid circulation requirement is an unauthorized addition to the requirements for exemption as a newspaper, this Court's decisions in <u>Gasson v. Gay</u>, 49 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1950), and <u>Green v. Home</u> <u>News Publishing Co.</u>, 90 So.2d 295 (Fla. 1956), make such a conclusion inescapable.

<u>Gasson</u> provided the first judicial construction of the statutory newspaper exemption. In deciding that magazines did not qualify as newspapers for statutory exemption purposes, this Court held that the statute:

....had reference to the natural, plain and ordinary significance of the word newspaper - the understanding of the word newspaper in general and common usage...<u>Id.</u> at 526.

The trial court's order invalidating the rule specifically relied upon <u>Gasson</u> (A. 2), and the record fully supports the finding that <u>The Alligator</u> is a newspaper within the common understanding of the word. The First District also expressly recognized this fact. (A. 5)

The <u>Home News</u> case provides even further support for <u>The</u> <u>Alligator's</u> position. There, this Court was faced with a free-distribution weekly publication, the "Shopper Advertiser", which claimed entitlement to exemption from sales and use taxes. Although the publication met the minimum requirements of the regulations - which at that time did not include a sale requirement - the Court found that:

The "Shopper Advertiser" unquestionably has for its principal purpose the advertising of business concerns in the area and not the dissemination of news. It is, in practical effect, simply an advertising "give-away"... Id. at 296.

Thus, the proper focus of inquiry is on the primary purpose of the publication. In this case, there can be no doubt that the primary purpose of <u>The Alligator</u> is the dissemination of news, not the advertising of business concerns. Again, both the trial court (A. 2) and the First District recognized this fact, the latter stating:

The Alligator is clearly not a "shopper" but is a "newspaper" within the common sense of the word and is not given away for advertising and public relations purposes. (A. 5)

Therefore, because <u>The Alligator</u> clearly comes within the scope of the exemption as interpreted by this Court in <u>Gasson</u> and <u>Home News</u>, the paid circulation requirement must be struck down.

C. Earlier DCA Cases Upholding the Validity of Subsections (3)(d) and (4) of Rule 12A-1.08 are Distinguishable From This Case.

While <u>Gasson</u> and <u>Home News</u>, <u>supra</u>, compel the conclusion that the Department's paid circulation requirement represents an erroneous and unauthorized interpretation of the statutory exemption, three district court of appeal cases have upheld the rule. <u>The Alligator</u> submits that those cases are distinguishable from this one.

In Department of Revenue v. Skop, 383 So.2d 678 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), a free-distribution weekly publication, the "Metro News", sought exemption as a newspaper. The court was unable to distinguish the "Metro News" from the "Shopper Advertiser" in the <u>Home News</u> case. The advertising content of the publication was approximately 85%<sup>6</sup> and the court stated:

We must therefore hold, as did the Supreme Court in <u>Home News</u>, that the Metro News unquestionably has for its principal purpose the advertising of business concerns in the area and not the dissemination of news. Although perhaps not called a "shopper", it is in practical effect simply an advertising give-away. Id. at 680.

Thus, as in Home News, the focus was on the primary purpose

6/ The advertising content of <u>The Alligator</u> during the assessment period was between 53% and 55%. (R. 59)

of the publication. The court did endorse the second-class mail and sale requirements which are at issue in the present case, but in the context of a publication which "unquestionably" was not a newspaper within the common understanding of the term. Again, the record in this case clearly demonstrates that we are dealing with a bona fide newspaper, not an advertising give-away. Both the trial court and the First District have recognized this significant distinction.

In Boca Raton Publishing Co., Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 413 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the court was faced with a situation involving four free-distribution weekly publications which sought sales tax exemptions. The publisher claimed that the word newspaper was unambiguous, and therefore the Department's rule requiring a second-class mail permit and sale to the reader was invalid. The First District rejected the publisher's "fundamental premise", id. at 107, that the word "newspaper" is unambiguous and then upheld the rule. Here, The Alligator does not challenge the Department's authority to promulgate rules restricting the exemption to those publications which are in fact newspapers within the common understanding of the term, having for their primary purpose the dissemination of news. Furthermore, The

<u>Alligator</u> does not argue that second-class status or paid circulation are absolutely irrelevant in determining whether a publication is a newspaper, but only that such criteria cannot be made conclusive. Finally, while the decision in <u>Boca Raton</u> does not describe with particularity the publications at issue therein,<sup>7</sup> the record now before this Court presents a publication which can only be described as a bona fide newspaper.

The recent case of <u>North American Publications, Inc. v.</u> <u>Department of Revenue</u>, 436 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), <u>rev. denied</u>, 449 So.2d 265 (Fla. 1984), involved a free-distribution weekly publication upon which sales tax was imposed for purchase of paper, ink and plastic bags used in the production and distribution of <u>The Neighbor</u>. The court found the case indistinguishable from <u>Boca Raton</u> and <u>Skop</u>, and thus upheld the rule. However, a review of the administrative order appealed from in <u>North American</u>, 4 FALR 2212-A (Oct. 18, 1982), reveals significant factual distinctions between The Neighbor and The Alligator. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>7/</u> However, in a declaratory statement issued by the Department, In re: Tallahassee Advertiser, 4 FALR 1982-A (May 17, 1982), reference is made to the publication in Boca Raton, stating that the publication's "primary purpose was for the use of selling advertisements even though that publication contains some local news." Id. at 1983-A.

Neighbor was distributed only weekly, whereas The Alligator is distributed Monday through Friday during the University of Florida academic sessions (twice weekly during the summer sessions). (R. 56) Distribution of The Neighbor is directly to residences, apparently unsolicited, whereas The Alligator This makes it is primarily distributed to racks. (R. 57) much more likely, of course, that the reader is seeking out the publication as a source of news and information. The Neighbor's advertising content was approximately 76%, whereas The Alligator's advertising content was 53% to 55% during the assessment period. (R. 59) Finally, the content of The Neighbor did not include national or international news, wire service reports, weather reports or state capital news, whereas The Alligator contains all of these. (R. 60) These "traditional newspaper features" were specifically noted by the First District (A. 5) and The Alligator submits that this distinction compels the conclusion that the Department's rule is indeed an invalid exercise of delegated legislative authority. While North American may have been decided correctly on the issue of The Neighbor's entitlement to exemption, this case clearly demonstrates that the rule is overbroad because it operates to deny exemption to publications which are in fact bona fide newspapers.

In conclusion, <u>Skop</u>, <u>Boca Raton</u> and <u>North American</u> did not involve bona fide newspapers and are therefore distinguishable from this case. <u>Gasson</u> and <u>Home News</u> are controlling here and <u>The Alligator</u> is clearly entitled to exemption under the rationale of this Court in those cases.

#### POINT II

### RULE 12A-1.08, FLA. ADMIN. CODE, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO THE ALLIGATOR AND SIMILARLY SITUATED FREE-DISTRIBUTION NEWSPAPERS.

### A. The Paid Circulation Requirement Violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution.<sup>8</sup>

As noted before, there is no doubt that <u>The Alligator</u> is a newspaper within the common understanding of the word. Both the trial court and the First District recognized this fact. (A. 2, 5) In spite of this, the Department refuses to allow <u>The Alligator</u> the statutory exemption granted other newspapers. This differential treatment of <u>The Alligator</u>, based solely upon its method of circulation, violates the First Amendment.

In <u>Minneapolis Star and Tribune Co. v. Minnesota</u> <u>Commissioner of Revenue</u>, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 103 S.Ct. \_\_\_\_, 75 L.Ed.2d 295 (1983), the United States Supreme Court held that a tax that singles out the press, or that targets individual publications within the press, places a heavy burden on the

18

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