IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CAMPUS COMMUNICATIONS, INC., a Florida corporation not for profit,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 65,786 DCA CASE NO. AW-352

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Edwin A. Bayo Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Rm. LL04, The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-2142

INTRODUCTION

The Department of Revenue agrees with the Statement of Facts and Statement of the Case as presented in Petitioners Brief. The Department takes this opportunity to point out to this Honorable Court the apparent misconstruction of the issue facing the First District Court of Appeals. The question certified to this Court was:

Is Rule 12A-1.08, Fla. Admin. Code, which requires taxation of all publications which are not sold but given away, unconstitutional as applied to the Alligator and similarly situated school publications?

The Department would point out that Rule 12A-1.08 does not require the taxability of all publications which are given away. Said Rule is concerned with the taxability of, and exemptions to, certain magazines, newspapers and other type of publications. As will be elaborated in Point I of this brief, §212.05 F.S. is the specific authority imposing a tax on the privilege of selling or distributing tangible personal property in this state.

Furthermore, as was pointed out in Petitioner's original brief, the Alligator is not a school publication. If it were, the publication would be entitled to an exemption under Section 212.08(7)(a).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EXEMPTION AFFORDED BY SECTION 212.08(6), F.S., IS ONLY APPLICABLE TO THE RECEIPTS FROM THE SALE OF NEWS-PAPERS.

In order to understand the exemption provided for by Section 212.08(6), F.S., it is important to understand the basic nature of Florida's sales tax law. Although the sales tax is computed on the price of the commodity sold or the service rendered, it is really an excise tax on a taxable privilege, to wit; the sale of tangible personal property.

The landmark case in Florida explaining this definition is <u>Gaulden v. Kirk</u>, 47 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1950), in which the Supreme Court stated:

The real test as to whether the tax provided in the instant law is a property tax involves not merely a consideration of the purpose of the act but rather a consideration of the subject of taxation or the thing actually The Florida Revenue Act of 1949 does taxed. not levy a tax upon the goods, wares, or merchandise sold by the retailer, or upon the services rendered by a landlord. The tax which is provided in said act is levied upon the privilege of engaging in certain business or occupations although it is computed upon the sales price of the commodity sold or upon the price charged for the services rendered. (e.s.)

The taxes provided for in the sales and use tax statute are not taxes against individuals or property, but taxes against business transactions or taxes for the privilege of engaging in a business or occupation. Ryder Truck Rental Inc. v. Bryant, 170 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1964).

This important principle of Florida tax law is codified in F.S. 212.05, which states:

212.05 Sales, storage, use tax. - It is hereby declared to be the legislative intent that every person is exercising a taxable privilege who engages in the business of selling tangible personal property in this state. . .

(1) For the exercise of such privilege, a tax is levied on each taxable transaction or incident, which tax is due and payable as follows:

(a)1. At the rate of 5 percent of the sales price of each item or article of tangible personal property when sold at retail in this state. . .

(b) At the rate of 5 percent of the cost price of each item of tangible personal property when the same is not sold but is used, consumed, distributed, or stored for use or consumption in this state. (emphasis added)

Petitioners have argued that the <u>purchases</u> of printed matter made by them are exempted by virtue of section 212.08(6) Florida Statutes, which reads, in pertinent part:

(6) EXEMPTIONS; POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS, COMMUNICATIONS. -There are also exempt from the tax imposed by this Chapter sales made to the United States Government, the state, or any county, municipality, or political subdivision of this state; . . . LIKEWISE EXEMPT ARE NEWSPAPERS. . . . (e.s.)

The clear language of the above statute only exempts sales of newspapers. In accord with the intent and meaning of this section is the administrative rule which implements this statute, 12A-1.08 F.A.C. the first sentence of which states: "Receipts from the sale of newspapers are exempt".

The assessment of tax, penalty and interest filed by the Department of Revenue against the Petitioner was based on the purchases of tangible personal property, not for resale, made from its printer. Since Petitioner did not sell its publication, it was the ultimate consumer of said publication. Rule 12A-1.27, F.A.C. applies to this situation, by providing, in pertinent part:

(1) Sales to ultimate consumers for printing of tangible personal property are taxable.

Petitioner has also attempted to argue (R-93) that the exemption language of §212.08(6) not only refers to sale of newspapers, but that it also means that newspapers are exempt from all taxes imposed by Chapter 212. Such an expansive construction of the exemption violates the long-standing and well settled rule that tax exemption statutes are strictly construed against the taxpayer. Department of Revenue v. Anderson, 403 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1981); Housing by Vogue, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 422, So.2d 3(Fla. 1982); State ex rel Szabo Food Services Inc. v. Dickinson, 286 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1973). Furthermore, when newspapers such as the Miami Herald purchase printing materials which become part of the finished product for resale, they do not pay tax on those materials because they extend a resale certificate to the vendor at the time of purchase. Rule 12A-1.28 F.A.C. provides in pertinent part:

(1) The purchase by a printer, including publishers of <u>newspapers</u>, magazines, periodicals, etc., of materials and supplies which become a component of the printed matter for resale, are exempt from the tax. . . . (e.s.)

It cannot be fairly disputed that, should a newspaper fail to extend a resale certificate at the time of purchase, as required by Rule 12A-1.38 F.A.C., the purchase of the materials would be taxable under the strict compliance rationale of the Anderson decision. If the exemption found in §212.08(6) F.S. were as expansive as Petitioners argue, no resale certificate would be necessary. The sales tax exemption provided for in §212.08(6), F.S. relates to the next transaction, the sale of newspapers to readers.

In analyzing the validity of the Department's assessment, the following statutes should be kept in mind: §212.21, F.S., which expresses the legislative intent that every sale be taxed unless specifically exempted in Chapter 212; §212.02(3) F.S. which defines retail sale; §212.12(12) which imposes tax on last retail sale; and §212.07(9) F.S. which imposes liability to the purchaser for the tax when not paid to the dealer. All of these statutes and the principles of law cited in this section of the brief lead to the conclusion that the sales tax exemption found in §212.08(6) F.S. is a limited exemption for sales of newspapers, and Petitioners cannot avail themselves of that limited exemption since they do not engage in the sale of newspapers.

POINT II

RULE 12A-1.08 FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE, IS A VALID EXERCISE OF DELEGATED LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY.

Although the Florida legislature has provided a limited exemption from the sales tax to newspapers, the legislature did not undertake to define the word "newspaper". Pursuant to the rulemaking power granted to the Department of Revenue by §§212.17 and 212.18, Florida Statutes, the Department promulgated Rule 12A-1.08 F.A.C. which sets out certain minimum qualifications which a publication must meet to be considered a newspaper and qualify for the limited exemption afforded by Section 212.08(6).

Rule 12A-1.08, F.A.C., provides, in pertinent part:

- (1) Receipts from the sale of newspapers are exempt.
 - * * *
- (3) In order to constitute a newspaper, the publication must contain at least the following elements:
 - * * *
 - (d) It must have been entered or qualified to be admitted and entered as second class mail matter at a post office in the county where published.
 - * * *
- (4) To qualify for exemption as a newspaper, a publication must be sold and not given to the reader free of charge. So-called newspapers which are given away for advertising and public relations purposes are taxable (e.s.)

The Courts of this state have consistently recognized the authority of the Department of Revenue to promulgate rules and regulations defining the term "newspaper". This authority was first judicially recognized in the Florida Supreme Court case of Gasson v. Gay, 49 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1950).

In that case, the Court rejected the taxpayer's contention that certain news magazines qualified for the exemption because they met the regulatory criteria. The Court held that to be entitled to the exemption, a publication must be a newspaper within the "natural, plain and ordinary significance of the word." However, in its holding the Court did not set aside the applicable administrative test. Instead, the Court held that the exemption is available to a publication only if it: (1) meets the minimum criteria of the administrative regulations, and (2) is a newspaper within the general and common understanding of the word. The Supreme Court in Gasson stated:

The said rule does not purport to contain all elements necessary to constitute a newspaper nor to embrace a complete, full and comprehensive definition of a newspaper. It simply provides specific minimum requirements and states, in effect, that in order for a publication to constitute a newspaper, the publication must embrace at least the stated elements. 49 So.2d at 526. (e.s.)

Thus, it is clear that the Court approved the administrative rules in defining the minimum criteria for the exemption.

In Green v. Home News Publishing Co., 90 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1956), the Florida Supreme Court reversed a lower court decision holding that the publication under consideration did qualify for the exemption as a newspaper. In ruling against the taxpayer, the Court in Home News emphasized that the administrative construction of the statute would be upheld by the courts unless clearly erroneous or unauthorized. It is important to note that the Gasson and Green cases had to focus on the primary purpose of the publication at issue, since those publications did meet the minimum requirements of the then existing regulation, which did not include a sale requirement.

In <u>Department of Revenue v. Skop</u>, 383 So.2d 678 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), the Fifth District found Rule 12A-1.08, F.A.C., to be a valid exercise of the Department's rulemaking powers. At issue in <u>Skop</u> were the same specific requirements that plaintiff challenges in the instant case. The primary characteristics of the <u>Skop</u> publication which disqualified it for the exemption were that it was distributed free of charge and it did not have second class mailing privileges. The Fifth District clearly endorsed these requirements of the Department's regulation as proper constructions to place on the statutory exemption for newspapers.

As recently as 1983, the First District Court of Appeals reaffirmed the validity of Rule 12A-1.08 F.A.C. in the case of North American Publication Inc. and Neighbor Newspaper v. Department of Revenue and Office of the Comptroller, State of Florida, 436 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). Rev. denied, 449 So.2d 265 (Fla. 1984) One of the issues raised on appeal was:

(1) Whether Rule 12A-1.08, Fla. Admin. Code is an invalid exercise of delegated legislative authority or an erroneous interpretation of Section 212.08(6), Fla. Stat., and the denial of appellant's refund was erroneous as based on an invalid rule?

436 So.2d at 955.

The <u>Neighbor</u> Court specifically upheld the validity of Rule 12A-1.08, F.A.C. and in particular, subparagraphs 3(d) and 4 of that rule, finding that the administrative construction of §212.08(6) found in said rule is not clearly erroneous or unauthorized.

This Administrative Rule was necessary to assist in the interpretation of the term "newspaper", since the term newspaper can be ambiguous. In <u>Boca Raton Publishing Co. v. Department of Revenue</u>, 413 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1982). The First District Court of Appeal recognized this ambiguity and the need for the administrative construction with the following language:

We disagree with Appellant's fundamental premise that the word newspaper is unambiguous. Having reached this determination, we next conclude that the administrative construction of the statute is not clearly erroneous or unauthorized.

413 So.2d 106 at 107.

The administrative construction of the word newspaper found in Rule 12A-1.08 reflects the intent of the legislature, since as was elaborated on Point I of this brief, the exemption found in §212.08(6) is an exemption for sales of newspapers. Furthermore, this administrative construction is entirely consistent with the only statutory definitions of the word newspaper found in §50.011, F.S., as well as §165.031.

1. 11 1.

It is settled law in this state that a construction placed on a statute by a state administrative officer is a persuasive force and influential with the courts when not in conflict with the Constitution or the plain intent of the statute. Volunteer State Life Insurance Co. v. Larson, 2

So.2d 386 (Fla. 1941); Green v. House News Publishing Co.

Inc., supra. Furthermore, the administrative construction of a statute by those charged with its enforcement and interpretation is entitled to great weight, and courts generally will not depart from such construction unless it is clearly erroneous or unauthorized. Odham v. Foremost

Dairies, Inc., 128 So.2d 586 (Fla. 1961); Boca Raton, supra.

Finally, it is important to keep in mind the standard for determining whether an administrative rule is a valid exercise of delegated legislative authority. This standard has been announced in State Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Framat Realty, Inc., 407

So.2d 238 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) as follows:

Permissible interpretations of a statute must and will be sustained, through other interpretations are possible and may even seem preferable according to some news.

All that Petitioners are saying here is that they have another interpretation, and that in their view, their interpretation is better. In light of all the cases cited in all preceding pages, which have consistently held that this same rule is a valid exercise of delegated legislative authority, it becomes clear that Petitioner simply cannot carry the burden of proving that the interpretation of the word newspaper found in Rule 12A-1.08 F.A.C. is clearly erroneous or unauthorized.

POINT III

THE APPLICATION OF RULE 12A-1.08 TO THE ALLIGATOR AND SIMILARLY SITUATED FREE DISTRIBUTION PUBLICATIONS DOES NOT VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTION.

Petitioners cite the case of Minneapolis Star and

Tribune Co. v. Minnesota Commissioner of Revenue, _U.S.__,

103 S.Ct. 1365, 75 L.Ed.2d 295 (1983) as controlling in this

case. A reading of the first sentence of that opinion is

enough to put that argument to rest:

"This case presents the question of a State's power to impose a special tax on the press and by enacting exemptions, to limit its effect to only a few newspapers". (e.s.).

103 S.Ct. 1365 at 1367

The State of Florida has not imposed a special tax on the press. The sales taxes which have been assessed against the Alligator are the same sales taxes applicable to businesses of all kinds. There can be no suggestion that the Alligator or similarly situated free distribution publications are targeted or singled out. The tax which was struck down by the Supreme Court in the Minneapolis Star and Tribune case was a different tax.

"By creating this special use tax, which, to our knowledge, is without parallel in the State's tax scheme, Minnesota has singled out the press for special treatment".

103 S.Ct 1365 at 1370.

In the State of Florida, the legislative intent as expressed in §212.12(12), F.S. is to tax the last retail sale. Unless specifically exempted, all free distribution publications have to pay tax on the cost of materials and labor used to produce them, because when a free distribution publication acquires the printed matter, it is the end consumer. The State of Florida has not granted an exemption to any newspaper for the cost of materials or printing.

Newspapers, like other publishers or businesses, do not pay taxes on the materials or labor costs because they are going to sell the finished product, and the tax will be due at that time.

In the <u>Neighbor</u> decision, the First District Court of Appeal had the opportunity to analyze Rule 12A-1.08 and Florida's tax scheme, in light of the <u>Minneapolis Star</u> and Tribune decision:

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